
 

1 

 

 

PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING 

Tuesday, August 11, 2025 

6:00 p.m. 

 

MINUTES 

 

The City of Clemson Planning Commission met in open session in the Council Chambers in City 

Hall, 1250 Tiger Boulevard, Clemson, SC. 

 
Members present: Herb Tyler (Chair), Greg Rice (Vice-Chair), Tanya Hyatt, Benji Cumbie, 

Charles Kernaghan, and John Crolley 

 

Members absent: Bryan Yoder 

 

Staff present: Nathan Woods, Assistant City Administrator; Art Holbrooks, City Planner; Jacob 

Peabody, Zoning Administrator; Kelly Roach, Recording Secretary. 

 

The meeting was livestreamed and recorded on YouTube. 

 

1. Call to Order:  

 

Mr. Tyler called the meeting to order at 6:00 p.m., then called for a motion to amend the 

agenda to include the approval of the minutes for the July 23, 2025 workshop. Mr. Cumbie 

made a motion to add consideration of the July 23, 2025 workshop minutes to the agenda; 

Mr. Crolley seconded the motion. Mr. Tyler called for discussion; there was none. Mr. 

Tyler called for a vote by a show of hands; there was no opposition. The motion was 

unanimously approved by a 6 – 0 vote.  

 

Mr. Tyler then introduced the Commission members and staff present, and spoke on the 

Planning Commission's purpose requirements for developers proposing projects. 

 

2. Public Session (4:30) 

 

Mr. Tyler opened the Public Session and called for comments related to items not on the 

agenda; there were none. Mr. Tyler also noted that there had been no written comments 

received for items not on the agenda. 

 

The Public Session was closed  

 

3. Adoption of Minutes (6:23) 

  

a. July 14, 2025 - Regular Meeting  

 

Mr. Tyler called for proposed edits to the draft minutes; There were none.  

 



 

2 

 

Mr. Tyler called for a motion. Mr. Rice made a motion to approve the Monday, July 14, 

2025 minutes as presented; Ms. Hyatt seconded the motion. Mr. Tyler called for a vote by a 

show of hands; there was no opposition. The motion was unanimously approved by a 6 - 0 

vote.  

 

b. July 23, 2025 – Workshop 

 

Mr. Tyler called for proposed edits to the draft minutes; there were none. 

 

Mr. Tyler called for a motion. Mr. Cumbie made a motion to approve the July 23, 2025 

workshop minutes as presented; Ms. Hyatt seconded the motion. Mr. Tyler called for a vote 

by a show of hands; there was no opposition. The motion was unanimously approved by a 

6 – 0 vote.  

 

4. Planned Development Public Session (7:53)  

 

a. PUD-000461-2025 Proposed Planned Development (201 Pine Street) 

 

Mr. Tyler recognized the team from the 53 Group, the developer for the proposed 

Chapter Clemson development (see Attachment #1). Mr. Zach Britton, principal, 

introduced himself and the team members. Ms. Alison Mills from CRG Real Estate 

then gave a summary of what they heard during the concept presentation workshop in 

July, followed by other members of the development team addressing specific topics. 

Included were Mr. Jeff Halliburton of Thomas & Hutton Engineering; and Mr. Ben 

Buehrie and Mr. Elias Vavaroutsos with Lamar Johnson Collaborative, architects. 

Among the issues addressed were: 

 

• Updating the traffic study to include additional counts to be taken when school 

is back in session.  

• Removing the Hedgerow Lane parking and placing it in the parking garage. 

• A landscape buffer to help screen the north side of the garage. 

 

       (Note: Technical issues with the presentation resulted in a meeting recess beginning at 

time stamp 13:05; Mr. Tyler called the meeting back to order following resolution of 

the problem at time stamp 22:17). 

 

Mr. Tyler called for public comment.  

 

Mr. Charles Usry, 218 Pine Street, Clemson, SC, expressed concerns with development 

in his neighborhood, noting worries about parking. 

 

Ms. Larissa Heimlich, 101 Folger Street, Clemson, SC, listed concern with trash, noise 

and safety.  

 

Ms. Gay Eitenmiller, 137 Honey Comb Lane, Central, SC, said the development would 

increase safety issues.  



 

3 

 

Ms. Karen Frady, 129 Old Greenville Highway, Clemson, SC, identified concerns 

related to infrastructure, parking, traffic, and placing retail in a residential area.  

 

Mr. Fran McGuire, 163 Rippleview Drive, Clemson, SC, said the proposed 

development did not fit in with the community.  

 

Ms. Eleanor Hare, 202 Crest Circle, Clemson, SC, questioned commercial uses being 

placed up against a residential area.  

 

Mr. Rupert McGinty, 206 N. Clemson Avenue, Clemson, SC, stated concerns with the 

size of the development, and said that he believed it would lower the value of the 

property. 

 

Ms. Stephanie Platt, 103 Mountain View Lane, Clemson, SC, noted preferences for 

building workforce housing instead of student housing.  

 

Mr. Tyler called for additional comments from the public; there was none. The public 

session was closed. 

 

Mr. Tyler then called for comments from the commissioners. Among the items 

addressed were: 

 

• Concerns with infrastructure 

• Exploration of benefits for residents 

• Ways to lessen the impacts of the development on the surrounding 

neighborhood  

    

 Mr. Tyler then summarized the significant issues addressed during the session. He 

noted: 

 

• Step-downs  

• Views from neighborhood 

• Economic impacts 

• Traffic 

• Parking 

• The number of students 

• Workforce housing 

• Impacts on the infrastructure 

• Overall impact on property values in the neighborhood 

 

Mr. Tyler called for scheduling a workshop on the project, then closed the Public Session.  

 

Mr. Tyler called for a short recess at time stamp 1:24:13. The meeting was called back 

into session at time stamp 1:34:32. 

 

5. Action Items (1:34:42) 



 

4 

 

 

a. PUD-000431-2025 Proposed Planned Development (398 College Avenue)  

 

Mr. Tyler asked staff for any reports or updates; there were none. Mr. Tyler then 

recognized Mr. Mario Visbal of LV Collective, the developer, to present. 

 

Mr. Visbal gave an overview of the changes that have been made (see Attachment #2). 

Among the items he highlighted were: 

 

• Height reduction near the residential neighborhood 

• Changes in exterior materials 

• Drop off and pickup area 

• Turnaround area in parking garage 

• Trash truck clearance 

• 280 linear feet of stream preservation 

          

Mr. Tyler called for any comments from the commissioners; after brief discussion it was 

determined to allow comments from the public first.  

 

Mr. Tyler acknowledged receipt of a number of written comments received prior to the 

meeting, and read them (see Attachment #3). Following the conclusion of the review of 

written comments, Mr. Tyler noted that the deadline for submitting written comments to 

the Commission will be noon on the Friday before the meeting date. He then called for 

comments by members of the audience. 

 

Mr. Allen Hodges, 100 Strode Circle, Clemson, expressed his concerns with the size of 

the building and said that he felt there should be a delay in the vote. 

 

Ms. Shannon Sharkey, 101 Poole Lane, Clemson, asked the commission not to approve 

the proposed development, and to look into both the short term and long-term impacts of 

the developments under construction.  

 

Ms. Stephanie Platt, 103 Mountainview Lane, Clemson, asked if this development would 

include any workforce housing; Mr. Woods responded that it would not. 

 

Mr. Tom Teasley, 402 College Ave, Clemson, asked about the value of the 150 parking 

spaces being offered as public parking; Mr. Woods responded that the current cost to 

build structured parking was approximately $30,000.00 per parking space. Mr. Teasley 

added that he had concerns with the amount that the City would benefit from the project, 

and said he wondered if it was better to have planned developments or a development 

built under straight zoning; he then expressed concerns with the commissioners voting 

and not knowing which was best for the city.  

 

Mr. Julian Dickerson, 118 Riggs Drive, Clemson, noted concerns with voting on 

something before having all the answers; he added worries about parking. 

 



 

5 

 

Mr. Tyler called for any other comments from the public; there were none. He then called 

for comments from the Commission. Discussion followed between members and staff 

regarding possible development on the site by right.    

 

Following the conclusion of discussion, Mr. Tyler called for final questions and 

comments from commissioners.  

 

Mr. Kernaghan stated that after speaking to some of the people involved with the 

ClemsonNext strategic planning effort, he was against the proposed project going 

forward.  

 

Mr. Rice noted concerns regarding a Corps of Engineers being issued for the site; 

members of the development team replied that although the permit had not been issued, it 

was in process and was expected to be issued in the near future.  Mr. Rice then stated his 

desire for the developer to commit to keeping all work activities on site and not 

interfering with traffic or blocking the roads.  

 

Mr. Crolley identified concerns with wording in the ordinance referencing open space 

and public space; Mr. Peabody suggested the developer make the language a little clearer 

and add a diagram to show the differences. Mr. Crolley also mentioned concerns with 

wording on occupancy. 

 

Ms. Hyatt noted some of the benefits that she felt the development would bring to the 

City; Mr. Cumbie noted positives as well.  Mr. Rice stated that if the project went 

forward, he would like to see the community have input on the signage proposed for the 

neighborhood entrance. 

 

Mr. Tyler then provided a review of the process the Commission follows when 

developing and approving a recommendation to City Council on a project.     

 

Mr. Tyler called for a motion. Following brief discussion about wording, Ms. Hyatt made 

a motion to send a positive recommendation to City Council on PUD-000431-2025 

Proposed Planned Development (398 College Avenue) with the recommendations that 

the term ‘occupant’ was meant to be one person, the limit for double occupancy would be 

20% (the same as approved for the 412 College Avenue (MODA) planned development), 

the terms ‘open space’ and ‘public open space’ would be clarified, potential liability 

issues would be addressed, and a use agreement for the public open space be explored; 

Mr. Rice seconded the motion. Mr. Tyler called for discussion or comments; there were 

none. Mr. Tyler called for a roll call vote. The results were: 

 

Mr. Cumbie – yes 

Mr. Crolley – no 

Ms. Hyatt – yes  

Mr. Kernaghan – no 

Mr. Rice – yes 

Mr. Tyler – yes 



 

6 

 

The motion was approved by a 4-2 vote.  

   

6. Advisory Items (3:36:00) - None 

 

7. Discussion Items (3:36:10)  

 

a. Code of Ethics  

 

Mr. Tyler briefed the Commission on the recently adopted City of Clemson Code of 

Ethics and Conduct for Elected and Appointed Officials. He then read the document 

(see Attachment #4). 

 

8. Staff Reports (3:53:08)  

 

Mr. Holbrooks stated a public hearing for the planned development would be scheduled. He 

also stated that a signed copy of the updated Rules and Procedures would be sent to all 

commissioners.   

    

9. Other Items (3:54:20) 

 

a. Planning Commission Representation at Council Meeting - None 

 

b. Future Workshops and Other Events  

 

Staff will coordinate the schedule of the workshop for 201 Pine Street. 

 

Mr. Woods noted that there would be comprehensive plan advisory committee meeting 

with council; and he reminded the commission that the community input session on the 

redesign of Abernathy Park would be on August 26, 2025.   

       

10. Adjourn (1:06:09) 

 

Mr. Tyler called for a motion to adjourn. Mr. Rice made a motion to adjourn; Mr. 

Kernaghan seconded the motion. Mr. Tyler called for a vote by a show of hands; there was 

no opposition. The motion was unanimously approved by a 6 – 0 vote.   

 

The meeting was adjourned at 9:58 p.m.   

 

Respectfully submitted, 

 

 

 

Kelly Roach, Recording Secretary 
 

 

These minutes are in draft format and subject to change until approval by the City of 

Clemson Planning Commission.  



 

7 

 

Attachment #1 
53 Group (Chapter Clemson) Informal Public Meeting Slides 

 
 
 



 

8 

 

 

 
 
 



 

9 

 

 
 
 
 
 



 

10 

 

 
 
 
 
 



 

11 

 

 
 
 
 



 

12 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 



 

13 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 



 

14 

 

Attachment #2 
 

 
 



 

15 

 

 
 
 
 
 



 

16 

 

 

 
 
 



 

17 

 

 

 
 
 



 

18 

 

 
 
 
 



 

19 

 

 
 

 
 
 



 

20 

 

 
 
 
 
 



 

21 

 

 
 

 
 



 

22 

 

 
 

 
 
 



 

23 

 

 
 
 
 



 

24 

 

Attachment #3 
 

 



 

25 

 

 

 
 
 



 

26 

 

Attachment #4 
City Code of Ethics and Conduct 

 

 



 

27 

 

 

 
 
 
 



 

28 

 

 

 
 
 
 



 

29 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 



 

30 

 

 


